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Learning, building on expertise,
creating and finding solutions to problems

D R I V E
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Ablynx’s Board of Directors from left to right :
Edwin Moses, Remi Vermeiren, Frank Bulens, Geert Cauwenbergh, Stephen Bunting,
Mats Pettersson and Denis Lucquin.

Corporate Information

Investor Relations

Board of Directors 

Edwin Moses, Chairman of the Board
Frank Bulens, GIMV (1)

Stephen Bunting, Abingworth Management (2)

Geert Cauwenbergh (2) (3)

Denis Lucquin, Sofinnova Partners
Mats Pettersson (1) (2)* (3)

Remi Vermeiren (1)* (3)

(1)	 Audit Committee
(2)	 Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee
(3)	 Independent Director
(*)	 Chairman of the Committee
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Executive Committee from left to right :
Wim Ottevaere, Eva-Lotta Allan, Edwin Moses, Josi Holz and Debbie Law. Executive Committee

Edwin Moses, Chief Executive Officer
Eva-Lotta Allan, Chief Business Officer 
Josefin-Beate (Josi) Holz, Chief Medical Officer 
Debbie Law, Chief Scientific Officer 
Wim Ottevaere, Chief Financial Officer 

P investor relations
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Corporate Governance

Financial Calendar 2009

The application of Corporate Governance rules at 
Ablynx are in line with the recommendations of the Belgian 
Code on Corporate Governance which came into effect 
as of 1 January 2005. Ablynx stands by the principles of 
this Code.  
We refer to the Ablynx website (www.ablynx.com) 
for the full Corporate Governance Chapter.

 
The following documents are available 

on the Ablynx website for download:

P	 Corporate Governance Charter
P	 Dealing Code
P	 Articles of Association

24 | 02 | 2009	 Full year results 2008	  

30 | 04 | 2009	 Annual General Meeting 2009	

07 | 05 | 2009	 Quarterly report	

27 | 08 | 2009	 Half year results 2009	

10 | 11 | 2009	 Quarterly report 	
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pass ion

Committed to achieving  
the best outcome
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Financial review

Consolidated  
financial statements as per  
31 December 2008
prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted 
by the EU.
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Dear Shareholders,

We are pleased to present the consolidated 
financial statements for the fiscal year ended 31 December 
2008.

	 1.1 |	 Strategic Highlights

During 2008, our revenues increased by 69% to 
€16.8 million, with research and development expenses 
increasing by €11.2 million to €29.9 million, resulting in a 
loss for the year of €15.2 million. At year-end Ablynx had 
€113.6 million in cash, cash equivalents and available-for-
sale financial assets, having had a net burn of just 
€12.9 million during the year, a notable achievement when 
set against the substantial progress made in growing our 
pipeline and developing our Nanobody technology. 
We remain intent on attracting the best talent from around 
the world and during the year staff numbers grew from 
just under 150 to over 200, with 13 nationalities 
represented within the Company. More recently, in 2009 
we were very pleased to announce the recruitment of a 
new Chief Scientific Officer, Dr Debbie Law, with extensive 
senior experience from the US biotechnology industry. 
To support our planned growth, we announced our 
commitment to leasing about 7,000 m2 in a state-of-the-art 
facility to be completed on the Technologiepark in 
Zwijnaarde, Ghent by mid-2010. This new facility should be 
sufficient to house all our activities in Belgium for the 
foreseeable future.

In our commercial relationships, we placed 
considerable focus on our existing collaborations 
with Boehringer Ingelheim, Novartis and Wyeth 
Pharmaceuticals. During the year, we signed our first 
co-discovery/co-development partnership with Merck 
Serono. This two-target deal included an up-front fee to 
Ablynx of €10 million with Ablynx having the right to 
contribute 50% of the costs of discovery and development 
in return for 50% of the profits on commercialization of 
products. If we choose, however, we have the flexibility to 
opt-out at certain pre-agreed points and then convert this 
partnership into a classic licensing deal.

In May, we initiated the Phase Ib clinical trial of our 
lead compound, ALX-0081, an anti-thrombotic and, in 
December, we reached the primary endpoint of this study. 
In December, we also initiated the Phase I study of the 

subcutaneous delivery formulation of our anti-thrombotic, 
ALX-0681.  December was also the month when our 
partner, Wyeth Pharmaceuticals, started Phase I trials in 
the USA of a Nanobody directed against TNF-alpha - 
a programme we had licensed to them in 2006. In addition 
to the significant progress in developing our clinical 
pipeline, we have also recently nominated our next 
preclinical development candidate, ALX-0141, which is a 
Nanobody to RANKL, an important target in osteoporosis.

	 1.2 |	A nalysis of Results of Operations

Ablynx’s consolidated financial statements have 
been prepared in accordance with IFRS, as adopted by the 
EU and have been approved for issue by the Board of 
Directors on 24 February 2009. 

	 1.2.1 |	R evenue

Revenue increased 69% to €16.8 million in 2008 
(2007: €9.9 million).  
This increase was primarily attributable to a €6.8 million 
increase in research and development revenue, resulting 
mainly from the collaborative agreements with Novartis, 
Wyeth, Boehringer Ingelheim and Merck Serono. 
In addition, Ablynx had an €0.1 million increase in grant 
revenue due to two new grants from the government from 
which the Company will receive €2.3 million funding 
between 2008 and 2011. 

	 1.2.2 |	R esearch and development expenses

Research and development expenses increased by 
59% to €29.9 million for 2008 (2007: €18.7 million). 
This increase was primarily attributable to an €4.6 million 
increase in external development costs and an €3.7 million 
increase in personnel costs as research and development 
staff increased to 176 as at the end of 2008. It also reflects 
a €3.3 million increase in laboratory expenses, 
depreciations and other operating expenses; patent costs 
decreased to €1.2 million from €1.6 million in 2007.

	 1.2.3 |	 General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses increased 
€2.0 million from €5.5 million in 2007 to €7.5 million in 
2008. This increase primarily resulted from a €1.3 million 
increase in consultancy costs, including lawyers, and from 

	01 |	 Report of the Board Of Directors
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a €0.2 million increase in personnel costs, including share 
based payments. 

	 1.2.4 |	O ther operating income and expenses

Other operating income and expenses amounts to 
€6,000 in 2008 (2007: €5,000).

	 1.2.5 |	O perational result 

As a result of the foregoing, the loss from 
continuing operations before tax and net finance income 
increased from €14.3 million in 2007 to €20.6 million in 
2008. 

	 1.2.6 |	F inance income (net)

Finance income primarily comprises interest from 
deposits and floating and fixed rate notes. Finance income 
increased €3.6 million to €5.4 million in 2008 (2007: €1.8 
million). 
The increase was principally due to increased income from 
deposits following the proceeds from the IPO (€85.2 
million) in November 2007.

	 1.2.7 |	L oss for the period 

As a result of the foregoing, the Company’s loss 
increased to €15.2 million in 2008 (2007: €12.5 million).

	 1.3 |	B alance sheet analysis

The Company’s intangible assets of €0.8 million 
include a portfolio of patents which are being depreciated 
over approximately 12 years and a technology license that 
is depreciated over 18 years. The Company has not 
capitalized any other patents and it expenses all of its 
research and development activities. The intangible assets 
also include software licenses acquired primarily over the 
last two years. 

The Company’s non-current tangible assets of €4.2 
million include the Company’s laboratory and office 
equipment. The Company does not own any real estate 
property. The increase in non-current assets essentially 

relates to the increase in equipment as the Company has 
increased the scope of its research activities.

The Company’s current assets of €121.5 million 
essentially consist of trade receivables, available-for-sale 
financial assets and cash and cash equivalents. 
The decrease in 2008 primarily relates to the decrease in 
cash and cash equivalents (1). 

The Company’s current liabilities of €32.6 million 
primarily relate to deferred income from collaborative 
arrangements and trade payables. The increase in 
deferred income is related to new deals with partners. 
The Company’s non-current liabilities relate to a leasing 
contract. 

	 1.4 |	 Cash flow analysis

Cash flow from operating activities represented a 
net inflow of €3.0 million in 2007 and a net outflow of €9.6 
million in 2008 respectively. Unlike last year, the increased 
operating expenses were only partially offset by the 
positive impact of new collaborative agreements on 
revenue and working capital.  
Cash flow from investing activities represented a net 
outflow of €39.5 million in 2008 (2007: net outflow of €2.0 
million). These changes primarily reflected increased 
investments in laboratory and office equipment during the 
periods. Available-for-sale financial assets include €36 
million investments in floating and fixed rate notes (1). 
Cash flow from financing activities was a net inflow of €0.3 
million in 2008 (2007: €99.7 million). The decrease is 
primarily because €85.2 million was raised as part of the 
IPO in 2007. 

	 1.5 |	O utlook 2009

Based on the positive Phase Ib results for ALX-
0081, Ablynx intends to initiate a multi-centre Phase II 
clinical trial in PCI patients during the third quarter of 2009. 
In order to gain additional information on optimal dosing 
and scheduling in preparation for the Phase II trial, Ablynx 
has extended its Phase Ib study to look at biological 
markers, optimization of concurrent treatment with the 

	 (1)	 The treatment of €36 million investments in available-for-sale financial 
assets has an unfavourable effect on the reported cash flow per IFRS and 
the amount of cash and cash equivalents apparently available. The Board 
of Directors of Ablynx believes that inclusion of this amount in the cash 
flow (increasing it from -€48.8 million to -€12.8 million and the addition 
to the amount of available cash (increasing it from €77.6 million to €113.5 
million) better reflects the actual situation.

P 01 |  REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS



25

04 |  financial review	 ablynx |  annual report 20 08

standard anti-thrombotic regimen, tolerance and 
administration. The Company also aims to start a Phase I 
study for ALX-0141 (anti-RANKL) by the end of 2009.  
In line with its stated strategy, Ablynx will continue to 
develop its product pipeline by advancing other 
Nanobodies towards the clinic either alone or with 
partners. The Company will continue to initiate new 
research programmes during the year as well as further 
developing its own technology platform and exploiting the 
key Nanobody advantages in areas such as alternative 
routes of administration.  
Ablynx also anticipates obtaining additional milestones 
from its current partnerships during 2009.

	 1.6 |	 Capital increase and issuance of 
		  financial instruments

The following capital increases took place in 2008.
The Company increased its share capital on 17 January 
2008  due to the exercising of 410,500 warrants for an 
amount of €285,150 and is fully booked in share capital. 
The Company increased its share capital on 24 April 2008 
due to the exercising of 49,062 warrants for an amount of 
€44,155.80 and is fully booked in share capital.  
The Company increased its share capital on 30 July 2008 
due to the exercising of 2,000 warrants for an amount of 
€1,000 and is fully booked in share capital. 
The Company increased its share capital on 15 October 
2008 due to the exercising of 103,124 warrants for an 
amount of €54,811.60 and is fully booked in share capital. 
Taking into consideration the outstanding warrants at the 
end of 2008, the Company has in total 38,585,464 fully 
diluted shares.

	 1.7 |	 Important events after the 
		  accounting reference date

8 January 2009:
Ablynx strengthens management team with the 

appointment of Dr Debbie Law as Chief Scientific Officer. 

20 January 2009:
Ablynx announced that it has expanded its 

musculoskeletal research portfolio by transferring 
in-house full ownership of a bone disorder R&D 
programme initiated under its collaboration with Procter & 
Gamble Pharmaceuticals.

23 January 2009:
The Extraordinary General Shareholders meeting of 

Ablynx approved the issue of a new warrant plan for 
members of the Executive Committee and consultants. 
Under the new warrant plan, a total of 135,000 warrants 
can be issued at an exercise price of €4.52 per warrant.

3 February 2009:
Ablynx announced that it will receive milestone 

payments totalling €3 million from Boehringer Ingelheim 
triggered as part of its strategic alliance for the 
development and commercialization of Nanobodies.

5 February 2009:
Ablynx announced that its drug discovery and 

development alliance with Novartis has been extended for 
another year.

24 February 2009:
Ablynx announced that the research collaboration, 

which forms part of the Company’s TNF-alpha license 
agreement with Wyeth Pharmaceuticals, has been 
extended for another year.

	 1.8 |	 Circumstances that could 
		  considerably affect 
		  the development of the Company

No special events have occurred that could 
considerably affect the development of the Company.

	 1.9 |	R esearch and Development

We continue to invest in and fully exploit the 
tremendous potential of our unique Nanobody technology 
platform to deliver a stream of clinical candidates, both to 
fuel our own pipeline and to secure strategic 
collaborations.  
We have expanded our R&D pipeline, from 13 programmes 
at the end of 2007 to 24 by the end of 2008. 
These programmes span a wide range of indication areas, 
including cardiovascular, inflammation, oncology, 
musculoskeletal, neurology and pulmonary disease, 
illustrating the broad applicability of the Nanobody 
platform in both acute and chronic settings.  
Underpinning the product pipeline is the unique Nanobody 
technology platform and we are committed to continuing 
investment in this key asset and further exploring the 
potential of Nanobodies as powerful new protein 
therapeutics.
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	1.10 |	A djustments to the Share Capital

There has been one adjustment of the share capital 
that is required to be reported in accordance with article 
608 of the Company Code: 

Warrants issued in August 2008 for employees 
and members of the Executive Committee. 
During the Board meeting of the 22 August 2008, 
abovementioned warrant plan was approved. The Board of 
Directors issued a total number of 378,333 warrants to 
certain employees and members of the Executive 
Committee at an exercise price of €4.88 per warrant. If the 
warrant plan would be fully subscribed and exercised, this 
would lead to a dilution of 0.98% for the existing 
shareholders and warrantholders.

	1.11 |	A cquisition of own securities

Neither the Company nor any direct affiliated 
company nor any nominee has acquired any of the shares, 
profit-sharing certificates or other certificates of the 
Company.

	1.12 |	A s required by article 34 of 
		  the royal decree 
		  of 14 November 2007

All shares are ordinary shares. There are no 
preference shares and they represent the full capital. 

	1.13 |	 Conflicting interests of 
		  the Directors (article 523 of 
		  the Company Code)

The directors report that during the financial year 2 
decisions have occurred that fall within the provisions of 
article 523 of the Company Code.

As required by article 523 of the Company Code, 
the full minutes of said meeting of the Board of Directors 
relating to such conflict of interests are reproduced 
hereunder: 

 
Meeting of the Board of Directors of 26 February 
2008: Prior to the deliberation of this subject, the 
members of the Board of Directors acknowledge that they 
have been acquainted by email on 21 February 2008 of the 

declaration of Edwin Moses, in accordance with Article 
523 of the Belgian Company Code, which is: 

In accordance with Article 523 of the Belgian 
Company Code, I wish to report that I am faced with 
a conflict of interest of a financial nature in respect of the 
proposed decision of the Board of Directors to grant 
discharge to the members of the Executive Committee. 

The decision to grant discharge to the members of 
the Executive Committee entails in principle a lapse of the 
right of the Company to submit a liability claim against (the 
members of) the Executive Committee in respect of the 
actions or decisions (in their capacity as member) of the 
Executive Committee during the 2007 fiscal year.

As I am a member of the Executive Committee, 
the decision to grant discharge to the members of the 
Executive Committee entails a conflict of interest of 
a financial nature between the Company and myself: as 
a result of such decision, I will no longer be subject to such 
liability claims in respect of my function as member of the 
Executive Committee in the 2007 fiscal year, while the 
Company loses the opportunity to claim against me and 
the other members of the Executive Committee, which 
may lead to potential negative financial consequences for 
the Company. 

The exact amount of the financial impact on the 
Company of this decision cannot be determined at this 
time, as it cannot be known, at this time, whether the 
Company would wish, in the future, to assert any liability 
claim vis-à-vis myself or the Executive Committee and, 
if so, in what amount. The financial impact on the 
Company consists of the loss of this particular possibility.

However, I believe that the decision to grant 
discharge to the members of the Executive Committee is 
in the interest of the Company. Through such decision, 
the Company expresses its confidence in the members of 
the Executive Committee and offers such members 
a measure of security, which will allow the Company to 
attract and retain capable managers within the Company, 
as well as keep the current members of the Executive 
Committee motivated, committed and focused on 
their tasks. 

The Company’s statutory auditor has been copied 
on this email, thereby notifying him of this conflict of 
interest. 

The Board of Directors confirms that the financial 
impact on the Company of the decision to grant discharge 
to the members of the Executive Committee cannot be 
determined at this time, but consists of the lapse of the 
right of the Company to submit a liability claim against the 
(members of the) Executive Committee.
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The Board of Directors is also of the opinion that 
the decision to grant discharge to the members of the 
Executive Committee is in the interest of the Company, 
because it expresses the confidence in the members of 
the Executive Committee, which will allow the Company to 
attract and retain capable managers.  
The Board of Directors considers that the decision to grant 
discharge is in the interest of the Company because it 
keeps the current members of the Executive Committee 
motivated, committed and focused on their tasks.

In that perspective the Board of Directors declares 
that it believes that the decision to grant discharge to the 
members of the Executive Committee is in the interest of 
the Company.

After deliberation on the basis of the draft of the 
annual accounts and the annual report of the fiscal year 
2007, which counts as Annual Activity Report as described 
in the Charter of the Executive Committee, the Board of 
Directors unanimously grants discharge to the members of 
the Executive Committee over 2007.

Meeting of the Board of Directors of 22 August 
2008: Prior to the deliberation of this subject, 
the members of the Board of Directors acknowledge that 
they have been acquainted by email on 21 August 2008 of 
the declaration of Edwin Moses, in accordance with Article 
523 of the Belgian Company Code, which is: 

In accordance with Article 523 of the Belgian 
Company Code, I would like to report that I have a financial 
conflict of interest in respect of this agenda item. In my 
capacity of member of the Executive Committee of the 
Company, I am selected as one of the beneficiaries of the 
Stock Option Plan and will accordingly be offered a certain 
number of warrants.

However, I believe that the approval by the Board of 
the Stock Option Plan is in the interest of the Company, 
given the limited financial consequences for the Company 
(as the issue of these warrants shall have no immediate 
financial impact on the Company), as well as the purpose 
thereof. 

The purpose of this Stock Option Plan is (I) to create 
a long-term incentive for the selected employees, 
consultants and directors who are able to contribute 
substantially to the success and growth of the Company; 
(II) to provide the Company with the necessary means to 
recruit and retain competent and experienced staff 
members; and (III) to create a common interest between 
the selected participants on the one hand and the 
shareholders of the Company on the other, aimed at an 
increase in the value of the Company’s shares.

The consequences of the Stock Option Plan for the 
existing shareholders and warrantholders, and more in 
particular the dilution that would result from the exercise 
of all offered warrants, are clearly indicated in Article 4 of 
the special report of the Board of Directors in accordance 
with Article 583 of the Belgian Company Code.

	1.14 |	 Corporate Governance Charter

The Board of Directors has opted not to add a 
specific chapter on Corporate Governance. The Corporate 
Governance charter is available on the website of Ablynx.  
In 2008, there were 12 meetings of the Board of Directors 
with an attendance of 96.4%. There were 3 meetings of the 
Audit Committee with an attendance of 100% and 4 
meetings of the Remuneration Committee with an 
attendance of 100%.

	 1.15 |	 Justification of the valuation rules

Ablynx, established in 2002, is a start-up 
biotechnology company. For the further successful 
expansion of the research and development activities, 
Ablynx is amongst other things dependent on sufficient 
financial funding, the results obtained from research and 
the Company’s capacity to obtain and maintain adequate 
protection of its intellectual property.  
In addition, several clinical tests are planned in the next 
years and the number of personnel will be significantly 
expanded, which increases the operational costs. On the 
other hand, the last two years, major commercial deals 
were closed which will generate important revenues as 
milestones are achieved. In this scope, the Company 
quoted on the stock exchange on Euronext in November 
2007 and raised €85.2 million. 
The current cash position of €113.5 million including cash 
and cash equivalents and available-for-sale financial assets 
will allow Ablynx to keep up with the financial obligations 
in the coming years. Consequently, the annual accounts 
have been prepared on the assumption that the Company 
is a going concern.

	1.16 |	U se of financial instruments 
		  by the Company 

The Company does not use financial instruments.
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	1.17 |	R isks

The Company is potentially subject to the following 
inherent risks: 

P	 Nanobody-based drug candidates must undergo 
rigorous preclinical and clinical testing, the results 
of which are uncertain and could substantially 
delay or prevent the drug candidates from 
reaching the market.

P	 Delays in clinical trials are common and have many 
causes, and any such delays could result in 
increased costs and jeopardize or delay the 
Company’s ability to achieve regulatory approval 
and commence product sales as currently 
contemplated.

P	 The Company’s drug candidates may not obtain 
regulatory approval when expected, if at all, and 
even after obtaining approval, the drugs will be 
subject to ongoing regulation.

P	 The Company has a history of operating losses 
and an accumulated deficit and may never 
become profitable.

P	 Reliance on collaborative partners.

P	 The Company’s patents and other intellectual 
property rights may not adequately protect its 
products and product candidates, which may 
impede the Company’s ability to compete 
effectively.

P	 The Company may infringe the patents or other 
intellectual property rights of others and may face 
patent or other intellectual property litigation 
which may be costly and time consuming.

P	 The Company faces, and will continue to face, 
significant competition and rapid technological 
change which could limit or eliminate the market 
opportunity for its products and product 
candidates.

P	 The Company relies on outsourcing arrangements.

P	 The Company may not have adequate insurance 
cover in particular in connection with product 
liability risk.

P	 The commercial success of the Company’s 
technologies will depend upon attaining significant 
market acceptance of its product candidates 
among physicians, patients, healthcare payers and 
the medical community.

P	 If the Company fails to attract and retain qualified 
personnel, it may be unable to successfully 
develop its technologies, conduct its clinical trials 
and commercialize product candidates.

P	 The Company may need substantial additional 
funding, which may not be available on acceptable 
terms when required, if at all.

P	 Outbreaks of diseases in llamas and other livestock 
diseases could have a material adverse effect on 
Ablynx’s business.

Our financial risk management consists of:

P	 Liquidity Risk Management 
The Company makes use of term accounts and 
treasury notes. Each instrument in this balanced 
portfolio possesses high grade credit ratings, 
capital reimbursement guarantees and limited 
time horizons up to maximum 12 months.

P	 Interest Rate Risk 
The Company has only an insignificant amount of 
long term borrowings.

P	 Credit Risks 
The credit risk relates to the accounts receivable 
account. As the Company deals with creditworthy 
partners, no significant risk exists.

P	 Currency Risks 
The Company may be subject to currency risk as 
certain research agreements have been signed in 
foreign currency, mostly US Dollars. The Company 
did not enter into any currency hedging 
arrangements in order to cover its exposure. 

	1.18 |	A ppropriation of results

Ablynx NV, the parent company, ended the year 
with a net loss of €14,036,706 
The Board of Directors proposes to appropriate this result 
as follows:

	 Loss of the year: €14,036,706
	 To retained earnings: €49,423,858

This brings the total amount of retained losses to 
€63,460,565.
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	1.19 |	 Grant of discharge to the Directors 
		  and the auditor

You are requested, in accordance with the law and 
the Articles of Association, to grant discharge to the 
Directors and the auditor for the duties carried out by 
them during the financial year ending 31 December 2008.

Ghent, 24 February 2009
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We hereby certify that, to the best of our 
knowledge, the consolidated financial statements as of 
31 December 2008, prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted by 
the European Union, and with the legal requirements 
applicable in Belgium, give a true and fair view of 
the assets, liabilities, financial position and loss of the 
Company and the undertakings included in 
the consolidation taken as a whole, and that 
the management report includes a fair review of the 
development and the performance of the business and the 
position of the Company and the undertakings included in 
the consolidation taken as a whole, together with 
a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that 
they face. 

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Edwin Moses
CEO

NV Woconsult represented by Wim Ottevaere
CFO
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As required by law and the company’s articles of 
association, we report to you in the context of our 
appointment as statutory auditors. This report includes 
our opinion on the consolidated accounts and the required 
additional information.

Unqualified opinion on the consolidated accounts

We have audited the consolidated accounts of 
Ablynx NV and its subsidiary (the Group) as of and for the 
year ended 31 December 2008, prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards, 
as adopted by the European Union, and with the legal and 
regulatory requirements applicable in Belgium. 
The consolidated accounts of the Group are set forth on 
pages 33 to 62. These consolidated accounts comprise the 
consolidated balance sheet as of 31 December 2008 and 
the consolidated statements of income, cash flow 
and changes in shareholders’ equity for the year then 
ended, as well as the summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory notes. The total of the 
consolidated balance sheet amounts to EUR (000) 126,523 
and the consolidated statement of income shows a group 
share in the loss for the year of EUR (000) 15,223.

The company’s board of directors is responsible 
for the preparation of the consolidated accounts. 
This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and 
maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation 
and fair presentation of consolidated accounts that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting 
policies; and making accounting estimates that are 
reasonable in the circumstances.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
consolidated accounts based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with the legal requirements 
applicable in Belgium and with Belgian auditing standards, 
as issued by the Institut des Reviseurs d’Entreprises/
Instituut der Bedrijfsrevisoren. Those auditing standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated 
accounts are free of material misstatement.

In accordance with the auditing standards referred 
to above, we have carried out procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated accounts. The selection of these procedures 
is a matter for our judgment, as is the assessment of the 

risk that the consolidated accounts contain material 
misstatements, whether due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, we have considered the Group’s 
internal control relating to the preparation and fair 
presentation of the consolidated accounts, in order to 
design audit procedures that were appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal 
control. We have also evaluated the appropriateness of the 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates made by management, as well as 
the presentation of the consolidated accounts taken as 
a whole. Finally, we have obtained from the board of 
directors and Group officials the explanations and 
information necessary for our audit. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained provides a reasonable 
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated accounts set forth 
on pages 33 to 62 give a true and fair view of the Group’s 
net worth and financial position as of 31 December 2008 
and of its results and cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards, as adopted by the European Union, and with 
the legal and regulatory requirements applicable in 
Belgium.

Additional information

The company’s board of directors is responsible 
for the preparation and content of the management report 
on the consolidated accounts.

Our responsibility is to include in our report 
the following additional information, which does not have 
any effect on our opinion on the consolidated accounts:

P	 The management report on the consolidated 
accounts deals with the information required by 
the law and is consistent with the consolidated 
accounts. However, we are not in a position to 
express an opinion on the description of the 
principal risks and uncertainties facing the 
companies included in the consolidation, the state 
of their affairs, their forecast development or the 
significant influence of certain events on their 
future development. Nevertheless, we can confirm 
that the information provided is not in obvious 
contradiction with the information we have 
acquired in the context of our appointment.

	03 |	Statutory Auditor’s Report to the General Shareholders’ Meeting on 
		  the Consolidated Accounts of the Company Ablynx NV as of and for 
		  the year ended 31 December 2008



32

04 |  financial review	 ablynx |  annual report 20 08

P	 In accordance with article 523 of the Companies’ 
Code, the directors have informed you, in their 
management report on the consolidated annual 
accounts of the following decisions taken during 
the year in respect of one of the directors,  
Mr E Moses, being : 

	 1. the grant of discharge by the board of directors 
to the members of the executive committee of 
which Mr E Moses is also a member, 

	 2. the offering of a certain number of warrants in 
accordance with the terms and conditions of the 
stock option plan of August 2008. The board’s 
management report explains appropriately the 
financial consequences of this decision for the 
company.

Brussels, 24 February 2009

The statutory auditor
PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Reviseurs d’Entreprises | Bedrijfsrevisoren 
Represented by 

Raf Vander Stichele
Bedrijfsrevisor

P 03 |  STATUTORY AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE GENERAL SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING
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	04 |	Consolidated Balance Sheet

[ €‘000 ] as at 31 december

2008 2007

Non-current assets 5,001 3,505

	 Intangible fixed assets 801 751 (Note 8.6)

	 Property, plant & equipment 4,200 2,754 (Note 8.7)

Current assets 121,522 130,831

	 Trade receivables 4,167 2,082 (Note 8.8)

	 Other current assets 1,901 1,037 (Note 8.8)

	 Accrued income and deferred charges 1,920 1,223 (Note 8.8)

	 Available-for-sale financial assets 35,901 - (Note 8.9)

	 Cash and cash equivalents 77,633 126,489 (Note 8.10)

Total assets 126,523 134,336

Equity attributable to equity holders 93,870 108,175

	 Share capital 62,485 61,970

	 Share premium account 88,851 88,851

	 Share-based payments 2,053 1,551

	 Fair value reserves (99) - (Note 8.9)

	 Retained earnings (59,420) (44,197)

Non-current liabilities 3 61

	 Borrowings 3 61 (Note 8.13)

Current liabilities 32,650 26,100

	 Borrowings 57 112 (Note 8.13)

	 Trade payables 6,626 5,223 (Note 8.14)

	 Other current liabilities 2,068 1,689 (Note 8.14)

	 Deferred income  23,899 19,076 (Note 8.14)

Total liabilities 32,653 26,161

Total equity and liabilities 126,523 134,336

The notes on pages 37 to 62 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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	05 |	Consolidated Income Statement

[ €‘000 ] Year ended 31 December

2008 2007

Revenue:

	 Research and development 15,557 8,785

	 Grants 1,198 1,135

Total revenue 16,755 9,920

Research & development expense (29,889) (18,750) (Note 8.17)

General & administrative expense (7,447) (5,482) (Note 8.18)

Total operating expenses (37,336) (24,232)

Other operating income/(expense) 6 5 (Note 8.19)

Operating result (20,575) (14,307)

Finance income (net) 5,352 1,785 (Note 8.22)

Loss before taxes (15,223) (12,522)

Income tax expense - - (Note 8.23)

Loss for the year (15,223) (12,522)

Loss attributable to equity holders (15,223) (12,522)

Basic and diluted loss per share (0.42) (0.49) (Note 8.24)

The notes on pages 37 to 62 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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	06 |	Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

[ €‘000 ] Year ended 31 December

2008 2007

Cash flows from operating activities 

Loss before income tax (15,223) (12,522)

Adjustments for: 

	 Amortization 179 159 (Note 8.6)

	 Depreciation 1,859 866 (Note 8.7)

	 (Profit)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (6) -

	 Share-based payment expense 644 793

	 Finance income – net  (5,503) (1,809) (Note 8.22)

	 Net movement in trade and other receivables (3,646) (1,996)

	 Net movement in trade and other payables 6,604 15,700

Cash used in operations (15,086) 1,191

Interest paid  (6) (7) (Note 8.22)

Interest received 5,509 1,816 (Note 8.22)

Income tax paid - - (Note 8.23)

Net cash used in operating activities (9,583) 3,000

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (3,308) (1,994) (Note 8.7)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 6 -

Purchases of intangible assets (229) (11) (Note 8.6)

Purchases of  available-for-sale financial assets (36,000) - (Note 8.9)

Net cash used in investing activities (39,531) (2,005)

Cash flows from financing activities 

Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares 371 99,855

Repayments of borrowings (113) (160)

Net cash generated from financing activities 258 99,695

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (48,856) 100,690

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period 126,489 25,799

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period 77,633 126,489

The notes on pages 37 to 62 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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	07 |	 Consolidated Statement of changes in Shareholders’ Equity

[ €‘000 ] Share 

capital

Share 

premium

Share-

based

payments

Retained

loss

Fair Value

reserve

Total 

equity

Balance at 31 December 2005 17,661 13,425 241 (18,442) - 12,885

Capital increase 26,895 13,105

	 Of which unpaid capital (20,000)

Issuance costs (140)

Share-based payments 539

Loss of the year  (13,233)

Balance at 31 December 2006 24,416 26,530 780 (31,675) - 20,051

Unpaid capital paid up 20,004

Capital increase 22,880 62,316

   Of which unpaid capital 

Issuance costs (5,463)

Exercise of warrants 133 (22)

Share-based payments 793

Share premium 5

Loss of the year  (12,522)

Balance at 31 December 2007 61,970 88,851 1,551 (44,197) - 108,175

Exercise of warrants 515 (141)

Share-based payments 644

Loss of the year  (15,223)

Fair value reserve (Note 8.9) (99)

Balance at 31 December 2008 62,485 88,851 2,053 (59,420) (99) 93,870

The notes on pages 37 to 62 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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	 8.1 |	 General Information

The Company was incorporated on 4 July 2001 
under the name MatchX. It changed its name to Ablynx on 
12 June 2002. Ablynx is a public limited liability company 
(naamloze vennootschap or NV ) organized and existing 
under the laws of Belgium with registered office at 
Technologiepark 4, B-9052 Zwijnaarde, Belgium (company 
number 0475.295.446 (RPR Ghent)).

Ablynx is a biopharmaceutical company focused on 
the discovery and development of Nanobodies, a new 
therapeutic class of novel proteins that are derived from 
naturally occurring antibodies. Nanobodies represent the 
smallest functional fragments of a heavy chain antibody, 
which occur naturally in the Camelidae family, including 
camels and llamas. These stable heavy chain only 
antibodies are not found in any other mammals.

Ablynx has ongoing research collaborations and 
significant partnerships with several major pharmaceutical 
companies, including Boehringer Ingelheim, Merck Serono, 
Novartis and Wyeth Pharmaceuticals. Ablynx is building 
a diverse and broad portfolio of therapeutic Nanobodies 
through these collaborations as well as through its own 
internal discovery programmes. The Company’s lead 
programme, ALX-0081, an intravenously administered 
novel anti-thrombotic has reached its primary endpoint in 
a multi-dose Phase Ib study in patients undergoing PCI 
and ALX-0681, also an anti-thrombotic but with a 
subcutaneous route of administration, has started Phase I 
in healthy volunteers. Ablynx has progressed ALX-0141, 
an anti-RANKL Nanobody for bone disorders into 
preclinical development. In addition, Ablynx’s partner 
Wyeth Pharmaceuticals has initiated a Phase I study in 
December 2008 for an anti-TNF-alpha Nanobody.

Ablynx rents 2,830m² research laboratories from 
the VIB, 1,590m² office facility from NV Alho on 
the Technologiepark in Ghent until June 2010 and 470m² 
laboratory and office space from UPTEC in Portugal. 
On 20 October 2008, Ablynx has signed a contract with 
NV Bioversneller, who will provide the Company with 
a 7,000m² cutting-edge laboratory facility on the 
Technologiepark as from mid-2010.

To date, the Company has raised €70 million private 
equity financing and raised an additional €85.2 million in its 
IPO on Euronext in November 2007. 
It has research facilities in Ghent, Belgium, and Porto, 
Portugal and as at 31 December 2008 it had 205 staff.

	 8.2 |	 Summary of Significant 
		A  ccounting Policies

The principal accounting policies applied in 
the preparation of these consolidated financial statements 
are set out below. These policies have been consistently 
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise 
stated.

	 8.2.1 |	 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European 
Union. The consolidated financial statements are 
presented in thousands of Euro (unless stated otherwise).

The consolidated financial statements have been 
approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 24 
February 2008. 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared 
on the historical cost basis and on the assumption that the 
Company is a going concern. The principal accounting 
policies adopted are set out below. 

The preparation of consolidated financial 
statements in conformity with IFRS as adopted by the 
European Union requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates. It also requires management 
to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the 
Company’s accounting policies. The areas involving 
a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where 
assumptions and estimates are significant to 
the consolidated financial statements, are disclosed 
in Note 8.4.

	08 |	Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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1 Euro = 

X foreign currency

closing rate average rate

2008 2007 2008 2007

US Dollar 1.3917 1.4721 1.4708 1.3705

GB Pound 0.9525 0.7334 0.7963 0.6843

The Company has chosen to apply IFRS 2 to all 
warrants (Equity settled share-based payment 
transactions), granted after 7 November 2002 and that 
have not vested at the effective date of this IFRS (1 January 
2005).

1. Standards and interpretations endorsed by the 
EU at 31 December 2008 (not yet effective in 2008 and 
have not been adopted in anticipation by the Group):

P	 IAS 1 revised “Presentation of financial 
statements”

P	 IAS 23 revised “Borrowing costs”
P	 IFRS 2 “Share-based payment amendment 

regarding vesting conditions and cancellations”
P	 IFRIC 13 “Customer loyalty programmes”
P	 IFRIC 14 “IAS 19 - the limit on a defined benefit 

asset, minimum funding requirements and their 
interaction”

Other standards endorsed by the EU but not yet 
effective in 2008 and not relevant to the Group:

P	 IFRS 8 “Operating Segments” (mandatory for 
accounting periods beginning on of after 
1 January 2009)

2. New standards and interpretations effective in 
2008 and not relevant to the Group:

P	 Amendments to IAS 39 and IFRS 7 “Reclassification 
of Financial Instruments“

P	 IFRIC 11 “IFRS 2: Group and Treasury Share 
Transactions”

	 8.2.2 |	C onsolidation scope

The accounts of Ablynx NV and its directly and 
indirectly controlled subsidiaries are fully consolidated. 
Ablynx SA with registered offices in Rua do Campo Alegre 
1021, 4150-180 Porto (Portugal), is included at 100% in the 
consolidation. All activities have been transferred into the 
subsidiary and have no significant impact on the 
consolidated financial statements. 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in 
euros and rounded to the nearest thousand. 

	 8.2.3 |	S egment reporting

The Company does not distinguish different 
segments, neither business or geographical segments. 

	 8.2.4 |	F oreign currency translation 

	 |	F unctional and presentation currency

Items included in the consolidated financial 
statements are measured using the currency of 
the primary economic environment in which the entity 
operates (functional currency). The consolidated financial 
statements are presented in Euro, which is the Company’s 
functional and presentation currency.

	 |	T ransactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into 
the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing 
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains 
and losses resulting from the settlement of such 
transactions and from the translation at year-end 
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in 
the income statement.

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities 
denominated in foreign currency classified as available for 
sale are analyzed between translation differences resulting 
from changes in the amortized cost of the security and 
other changes in the carrying amount of the security. 
Translation differences related to changes in the amortized 
cost are recognized in profit or loss, and other changes in 
the carrying amount are recognized in equity.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial 
assets and liabilities are reported as part of the fair value 
gain or loss. Translation differences on non-monetary 
financial assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair 
value through profit or loss are recognized in profit or loss 
as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation differences 
on non-monetary financial assets such as equities 
classified as available for sale are included in the available-
for-sale reserve in equity.

P 08 |  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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	 8.2.5 |	R evenue recognition

The Company generates revenue from research 
collaboration agreements and from government grants.

	 |	R esearch collaboration agreements

These research agreements typically contain 
license fees, non-refundable up-front access fees, 
research and development service fees and milestone 
payments. The revenue recognition policy for research 
projects can be summarized as follows:

P	 License fees are recognized when the Company 
has fulfilled all conditions and obligations. 
The license fee will not be recognized if 
the amount cannot be reasonably estimated and if 
the payment is doubtful. As the Company has a 
continuing involvement during the license period, 
license fees are recognized ratably over the term 
of the agreement.

P	 Non-refundable up-front fees for access to prior 
research results and databases are recognized 
when earned, if the Company has no continuing 
performance obligations and all conditions and 
obligations are fulfilled (this means after 
the delivery of the required information). If the 
Company has continuing performance obligations 
towards the client research fees, the fee will be 
recognized on a straight-line basis over the 
contractual performance period (with adjustment 
to the actual performance period at the end of 
the contract or at the actual termination date).

P	 Research and development service fees are 
recognized as revenue over the life of the research 
agreement as the required services are provided 
and costs are incurred. These services are usually 
in the form of a defined number of full-time 
equivalents (FTE) at a specified rate per FTE.

P	 Commercial collaborations resulting in 
a reimbursement of research & development costs 
are recognized as revenue as the related costs are 
incurred. The corresponding research and 
development expenses are included in research 
and development (R&D) expenses in 
the consolidated financial statements.

P	 Milestone payments are recognized as revenue 
upon the achievement of the milestone, when all 
conditions attached have been fulfilled.

Deferred revenue represents amounts received 
prior to revenue being earned.

	 |	 Government grants

Grants related to research projects received from 
governmental agencies are recognized when the relating 
research and development costs are incurred and when 
there is reasonable assurance the Company will comply 
with the conditions attached to the grants, but not prior to 
the formal grant approval. These grants are separately 
presented in the income statement as revenue.

	 8.2.6 |	I ntangible fixed assets

P	 Internally generated intangible assets

Research expenses are charged to the profit and loss 
statement as incurred.

Development costs are only capitalized if the following 
conditions are met:
−	 the internally developed intangible asset is 

identifiable and controlled by the entity
−	 the asset will generate future economic benefits
−	 the development costs can be measured reliable.

At present, the current stage of development activities 
does not allow any capitalization of intangible assets. 
The existing regulatory and clinical risks constitute 
an important uncertainty with respect to 
the capitalization of development costs.

As no internally generated assets are recognized, 
all costs with respect to the protection of intellectual 
property are expensed as R&D expenses. 

P	 Purchased intangible assets

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalized 
on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring 
to use the specific software. These costs are 
amortized on a straight line basis over their estimated 
useful lives of maximum three years.

Acquired knowledge in the form of licenses is recorded 
at cost less accumulated amortization and 
impairment. It is amortized on a straight line basis over 
the shorter of the term of the license agreement and 
its estimated useful life.

P 08 |  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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	 8.2.7 |	P roperty, plant and equipment

An item of property, plant and equipment is carried 
at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment. Costs relating to the day-to-day servicing of 
the item are recognized in the income statement as 
incurred. Gains and losses on the disposal of property, 
plant and equipment are recognized in other income or 
expense.

A pro rata straight-line depreciation method is used 
to reflect the pattern in which the asset’s future economic 
benefits are expected to be consumed by the entity. 
The residual value and the useful life of an asset is 
reviewed each financial year-end for possible impairment. 
Depreciation is charged to the income statement on 
the following basis:

Equipment: 	 3 years
Hardware:	 3 years
Furniture:	 5 years
Leasehold improvements:	 the shorter of the useful life or 
			   the minimum rent term

Property, plant and equipment under construction 
are not depreciated.

	 8.2.8 |	I mpairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not 
subject to amortization and are tested annually for 
impairment. Assets that are subject to amortization or 
depreciation are reviewed for impairment whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment 
loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair 
value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes 
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest 
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows 
(cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than 
goodwill that suffered impairment are reviewed for 
possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

	 8.2.9 |	 Derivative financial instruments 
		  and hedging activities

The Company has no derivative financial 
instruments, in all material respect, to hedge interest rate 
and foreign currency risk.

	

	8.2.10 |	T rade receivables

Trade receivables are measured at nominal value, 
less provision for impairment. A provision for impairment 
of trade receivables is established when there is objective 
evidence that the Company will not be able to collect all 
amounts due according to the original terms of 
the receivables. 

	8.2.11 |	A vailable-for-sale financial assets

Unlisted shares and listed redeemable notes held 
by the Company that are traded in an active market are 
classified as being available-for-sale financial assets and 
are stated at fair value. Gains and losses arising from 
changes in fair value are recognized directly in equity in 
the investments revaluation reserve with the exception of 
impairment losses, interest calculated using the effective 
interest method and foreign exchange gains and losses on 
monetary assets, which are recognized directly in profit or 
loss. Where the investment is disposed of or is determined 
to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously 
recognized in the investments revaluation reserve is 
included in the profit or loss for the period.

	8.2.12 |	C ash and cash equivalents

The cash and cash equivalents heading consists of 
cash, sight deposits and short-term deposits.

	8.2.13 |	E quity instruments 

Equity instruments issued by the Company are 
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issuance 
costs.

	8.2.14 |	T rade payables

Trade payables are not interest bearing and are 
stated at their nominal value.

	8.2.15 |	 Borrowings

Interest-bearing bank loans are recorded as the 
proceeds received, net of transaction costs. 
The financial charges are accounted for on an accrual 
basis using the effective interest rate method and added 
to the carrying amount of the borrowing to the extent that 
they are not settled in the period in which they arise.

	8.2.16 |	I ncome taxes

Income taxes are accrued for in the same period as 
the related revenues and expenses. The taxable result can 
differ from the net profit or loss, because of revenues and 
expenses which are taxable in another fiscal year or that 
will never be taxable or deductible.
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Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the 
liability method, on temporary differences arising between 
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amounts in the financial statements. However, 
the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises 
from initial recognition of an asset or liability in 
a transaction other than a business combination that at 
the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor 
taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined 
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or 
substantially enacted by the balance sheet date and are 
expected to apply when the related deferred income tax 
asset is realized or the deferred income tax liability is 
settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognized to the 
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be 
available against which the temporary differences can be 
utilized.

As such, a deferred tax asset for the carry forward 
of unused tax losses will be recognized to the extent that 
is probable that future taxable profit will be available.

	8.2.17 |	E mployee benefits

The Company offers a pension scheme, taking the 
form of a group insurance plan. Substantially all employees 
have access to this scheme. These plans are defined 
contribution plans. A defined contribution plan is a pension 
plan under which the Company pays fixed contribution 
into a separate entity. The Company has no legal or 
constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the 
fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees 
the benefits they are entitled to under the existing 
schemes. The pension contributions paid by the Company 
to the group insurance plan are expensed when due. 

	8.2.18 |	P rovisions

Long-term provisions are recognized when the 
Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as 
a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of 
resources will be required to settle the obligation and 
a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be 
made.

	8.2.19 |	L eases

A financial lease is a lease that transfers 
substantially all the risks and rewards incident to 
ownership of an asset. 

The cost of assets acquired by way of a finance 
lease is measured at the lower of the fair value of 
the leased asset and the present value of the minimum 
lease payments, using the interest rate implicit in the lease 
as the discount rate, both determined at the inception of 

the lease. Initially incurred costs, directly attributable 
to the arrangement of the finance lease, are added to the 
amount recognized as an asset.

Assets acquired under financial leases are 
depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their 
estimated useful life if it is not reasonably certain that the 
entity will obtain ownership of the asset by the end of the 
lease term.

Payments made under operating leases are 
charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis 
over the period of the lease.

	8.2.20 |	S hare-based payment transactions

The Company has offered equity-settled, share-
based compensation plans to its employees and executive 
management. The cost with respect to the employee 
services received in compensation for the grant of these 
warrants is recognized as an expense. 
The total amount of expense is recognized over the 
vesting period and determined based upon the fair value 
of the warrants at grant date. The fair value of each 
warrant is estimated on the date of grant using the 
Black-Scholes model with the following assumptions: 
expected stock price volatility of 60%, 7 year risk free 
interest rate at valuation date and 7 years expected 
duration. The total cost is initially estimated based upon 
the number warrants that will become exercisable.  
At each balance date, the entity revises its estimates of 
the number of warrants that will become exercisable. 
The impact of the revision is recognized in the income 
statement over the remaining vesting period with 
a corresponding adjustment to equity. 
In 2008, one new share-based compensation plan has 
been granted to the employees and executive 
management with an expected stock price volatility 
of 60%, 7 year risk free interest rate at valuation date and 
7 years expected duration.

	8.2.21 |	E arnings per share

Basic net profit/(loss) per share is computed based 
on the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the period, excluding treasury shares.

Diluted net profit/(loss) per share is computed 
based on the weighted-average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding including the dilutive effect of warrants. 
Warrants should be treated as dilutive, when and only 
when their conversion to ordinary shares would decrease 
net profit per share from continuing operations. 
The received amount, less any directly attributable 
issuance costs, will be recorded as share capital and share 
premium at the time of exertion.
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	 8.3 |	R isk Management

	 8.3.1 |	F inancial risk factors

	 |	L iquidity risk management

The Company makes use of term accounts and 
treasury notes. Each instrument in his balanced portfolio 
possesses high grade credit ratings, capital 
reimbursement guarantees and limited time horizons up 
to maximum 12 months.

	 |	I nterest rate risk

The Company has only an insignificant amount of 
long term borrowings.

	 |	C redit risks

The credit risk relates to the accounts receivable 
account. As the Company deals with creditworthy 
partners, no significant risk exists.

	 |	C urrency risks

The Company may be subject to currency risk as 
certain research agreements have been signed in foreign 
currency, mostly US Dollars. The Company did not enter 
into any currency hedging arrangements in order to cover 
its exposure.  
The table below provides an indication of the Company’s 
open net foreign currency position as per 31 December 
2008.

	 8.3.2 |	C apital risk management

Ablynx’s objectives when managing capital are 
to safeguard Ablynx’s ability to continue as a going 
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and 
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal 
structure to reduce the costs of capital.

	 8.3.3 |	F air value estimation

The carrying amount of the borrowings 
approximates its fair value at reporting date. 

	 8.4 |	 Critical accounting estimates 
		  and judgements

At each reporting date, the Company makes 
assumptions and estimates with respect to the impact 
of past events on the future, resulting in a number of 
accounting estimates, which at present have a very limited 
impact. 
The Company has not identified at reporting date any 
sources of estimation uncertainty, which involve 
a significant risk of material adjustment to the financial 
statements in the following year.

	 8.5 |	 Segment Information

The Company does not distinguish different 
segments, neither business nor geographical segments.
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2008

Assets denominated in USD 3,385

Liabilities denominated in USD 53

Liabilities denominated in GBP 490

Liabilities denominated in SEK 215
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	 8.6 |	 Intangible Fixed Assets 

P 08 |  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

[ €‘000 ] Patents Software Total

Year ended 31 December 2007

Opening net book amount 847 52 899

Additions - 11 11

Amortization charge (127) (32) (159)

Closing net book amount 720 31 751

As at 31 December 2007

Cost 2,000 109 2,109

Accumulated amortization and impairment (1,280) (78) (1,358)

Net book amount 720 31 751

Year ended 31 December 2008

Opening net book amount 720 31 751

Additions 90 139 229

Amortization charge (132) (47) (179)

Closing net book amount 678 123 801

As at 31 December 2008

Cost 2,090 248 2,338

Accumulated amortization and impairment (1,412) (125) (1,537)

Net book amount 678 123 801

The intangible fixed assets mainly consists of a portfolio of patents of which the remaining amortization period is 
4.5 years. The carrying amount amounts to €591,000 per 31 December 2008.
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	 8.7 |	P roperty, plant and equipment 

P 08 |  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

[ €‘000 ] Equipment furniture Equipment

under

leasing

Leasehold  

improvements

PPE under 

construction

Total 

Year ended 31 December 2007

Opening net book amount 1,140 68 257 59 102 1,626

Additions 1,937 3 42 9 3 1,994

Transfer 102 - - - (102) -

Depreciation charge (756) (17) (68) (25) - (866)

Closing net book amount 2,423 54 231 43 3 2,754

As at 31 December 2007

Cost 4,554 97 350 74 3 5,078

Accumulated depreciation  
and impairment (2,131) (43) (119) (31) - (2,324)

Net book amount 2,423 54 231 43 3 2,754

Year ended 31 December 2008

Opening net book amount 2,423 54 231 43 3 2,754

Additions 2,938 72 - 295 - 3,305

Disposals – acquisition value (59) - - - - (59)

Disposals - accumulated  
depreciation and impairment

 

59

 

-

 

-

 

-

 
-

 

59

Depreciation charge (1,660) (27) (116) (56) - (1,859)

Closing net book amount 3,701 99 115 282 3 4,200

As at 31 December 2008

Cost 7,492 169 350 369 3 8,383

Accumulated depreciation  
and impairment (3,791) (70) (235) (87) - (4,183)

Net book amount 3,701 99 115 282 3 4,200
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	 8.8 |	T rade Receivables and other current assets

P 08 |  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

[ €‘000 ] As at 31 December 

2008 2007

Trade receivables 4,126 1,985

Credit notes to receive 36 8

Invoices to be made 5 88

Total 4,167 2,082

Other current assets

VAT receivable 1,041 685

Income tax receivable  849 336

Other receivables 11 17

Total 1,901 1,037

Accrued income and deferred expenses

Accrued income 959 936

Deferred expenses 961 287

Total 1,920 1,223

[ €‘000 ] As at 31 December 

2008 2007

Up to 1 month 350 238

Between 1 and 3 months - -

Over 3 months - -

Trade receivables consist of amounts due from 
research collaboration partners. The nominal amount 
of both trade and other receivables approximates the fair 
value.

The income tax receivable relates to recoverable 
withholding taxes paid on interest income. 
Accrued income consists mainly of accrued interest 
earned on cash and cash equivalents for which no 
payments have been received.

As of 31 December 2008, trade receivables of 
€350,000 were past due but not impaired. The trade 
receivables relate to a number of high ranked international 
customers for whom there is no recent history of default. 
The ageing analysis of the past due trade receivables is as 
follows:
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The carrying amounts of the Company’s trade and other receivables are dominated in the following currencies:

	 8.9 |	A vailable-for-sale financial Assets

The available-for-sale financial assets are valued at 
fair value through equity and relate to: 

1. a floating rate note (€20M), with a variable 
interest rate of Euribor 6M + 2 bps. The initial term to 
maturity of the floating rate note is seven years, with 
the possibility to liquidate the asset every six months 
a pari and possibility to liquidate biweekly at market value 
minus step-out costs of 12.5 bps. The underlying assets of 
this floating rate note consist of an internationally spread 
bond portfolio with AAA rating. The interest, exchange 
rate and credit risk are covered by a Total Return Swap 
which is concluded with Bank of America. The underlying 
mark-to-market variances in the underlying portfolio are 
covered by collateral of Bank of America;

2. a KBC floating rate note (€10M) with a variable 
interest rate of Euribor 3M + 15 bps. The term to maturity 
is 13 November 2009;

3. a KBC fixed rate note (€6M) maturity at 15 
July 2009.
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As at 31 December 

2008 2007

€ 1,725 1,926

US $ 3,385 150

[ €‘000 ] As at 31 December 

2008 2007

Acquisition costs 36,000 -

Fair value adjustments recognized in equity (99) -

Total 35,901 -
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[ €‘000 ] As at 31 December 

2008 2007

Short term bank deposits 74,500 121,500

≤ 3 months 45,000 121,500

> 3 months; ≤ 6 months 29,500 -

Cash at bank and on hand 3,133 4,989

Total 77,633 126,489

	8.10 |	 Cash and Cash Equivalents

	8.11 |	 Share Capital

	8.11.1 |	T ransactions during the year

The Company increased its share capital on 
17 January 2008 due to the exercising of 410,500 warrants 
for an amount of €285,150 and is fully booked in share 
capital. 
The Company increased its share capital on 24 April 2008 
due to the exercising of 49,062 warrants for an amount of 
€44,155.80 and is fully booked in share capital. 
The Company increased its share capital on 30 July 2008 
due to the exercising of 2,000 warrants for an amount of 
€1,000 and is fully booked in share capital. 
The Company increased its share capital on 15 October 
2008 due to the exercising of 103,124 warrants for 
an amount of €54,811.60 and is fully booked in 
share capital.  

 
 
 
 
 
Taking into consideration the outstanding warrants at the 
end of 2008, the Company has in total 38,585,464 fully 
diluted shares. 

The share capital consists of common shares, 
which are fully paid up, with a par value of €1.87 per share.

Number of shares  

on 1 January 2008 36,208,178

Number of new shares  

(exercise of warrants) 282,343

Number of shares  

on 31 December 2008 36,490,521

The cash and cash equivalents heading consists of cash, sight deposits and short-term deposits
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The shareholding structure is as follows per transparency notifications of 5 November 2008:

	8.11.2 |	A uthorized capital 

The Shareholders’ meeting of 12 October 2007 
authorized the Board of Directors to carry out capital 
transactions during a period of 5 years for a total amount 
of €65,294,079.44. 
In August 2008, the Board of Directors issued a new 
warrant plan with a total number of 378,333 new warrants 
at an exercise price of €4.88 per warrant. At 31 December 
2008, the authorized capital amounts to €63,447,813.96.

	8.11.3 |	V oting rights 

Each share gives right to one vote. If the share is 
encumbered by usufruct, the voting rights attached to 
the share shall be exercised by the usufructuary. 
The voting rights attached to pledged shares shall be 
exercised by the owner-pledger.

	8.11.4 |	 Dividends and minimum share capital

The Company has never distributed any dividends 
to its shareholders. According to the Belgian law, 
the Company is required to deduct at least 5% from its 
profit to constitute the legal reserve until it reaches one/
tenth of the Company’s statutory share capital. As of 31 
December 2008 no profits were available for distribution. 
In accordance with Belgian Company law, the minimum 
share capital of a public limited liability company is 
€61,500. 
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shareholder address

number 

of voting 

rights

% of 

voting 

rights

GIMV NV, Adviesbeheer GIMV Life Sciences NV  
and Biotech Fonds Vlaanderen

Karel Oomsstraat 37  

2018 Antwerpen 6,924,764 19.00%

Sofinnova Partners SAS 17, rue de Surène

75008 Paris 5,927,830 16.27%

Abingworth Management Limited  
and Abingworth LLP

38 Jermyn Street

SW1Y 6DN London 4,102,952 11.26%

Alta California Partners IV, LP One Embarcadero Center 

37th Floor 

94111 San Francisco 3,135,583 8.61%

Gilde Europe Food & Agribusiness Fund B.V. Newtonlaan 91

3584 BP Utrecht 2,941,772 8.07%

C.H. Boehringer Sohn AG & Co. KG Binger Strasse 173

55216 Ingelheim am Rhein 2,142,857 5.88%

Multifund B.V., Nederlandia Investments B.V. 
and Stichting Avivia

Admiraliteitskade 77 - K

3063 EE Rotterdam 1,900,000 5.21%

KBC Groep NV and KBC Private Equity NV Havenlaan 2

1080 Brussel 1,589,286 4.36%

VIB VZW Rijvisschestraat 120

9052 Zwijnaarde 1,375,000 3.77%

KBC Asset Management NV Havenlaan 2

1080 Brussel 1,246,738 3.42%

Free Float 5,203,739 14.26%
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	8.12 |	 Share Based Payments

Warrants issued in June 2007 for employees 
and external consultants

During the Extraordinary Shareholders Meeting of 
14 June 2007, abovementioned warrant plan was 
approved. The Board of Directors was allowed to issue a 
total number of 425,000 warrants to certain employees 
and external consultants.

Each warrant gives the beneficiaries the right to 
subscribe to one share of the Company (equity-settled). 
The warrants are granted for free and have an exercise 
price equal to the fair market price of the underlying 
shares at the date of the grant (€1.40 per warrant). 
The warrants vest ratably over 4 years: 25% of 
the warrants vest after one year; after that date 
the remaining 75% become vested on a monthly basis 
(2.083% per month).

The warrants can only be exercised when vested 
and as from the beginning of the fourth calendar year 
following the year in which the warrants have been 
granted (thus starting as from 1 January 2011 until 
December 2014). In case of a normal termination of 
the employee contract or the consulting agreement, all the 
vested warrants need to be exercised during the current or 
next exercise period. Vested warrants which have not 
been exercised in the foreseen period cannot be 
transferred to future exercise periods and become lapsed. 
All non-vested warrants become lapsed on the moment of 
termination of the agreement. The duration of 
the warrants is seven years as of the issue date of the 
warrants. Any warrants that have not been exercised 
within 7 years of their creation become null and void.

Warrants issued in October 2007 for independent 
Board members

During the Extraordinary Shareholders Meeting of 
the 12 October 2007, abovementioned warrant plan was 
approved. The maximum number of warrants to be issued 
was €75,000 divided by the Offer price. The final Offer 
price of €7 resulted in a total of 10,713 warrants, issued to 
independent Board members.

Each warrant gives the beneficiaries the right to 
subscribe to one share of the Company (equity-settled). 
The warrants are granted for free and have an exercise 
price equal to the fair market price of the underlying 
shares at the date of the grant (€7 per warrant, being 
the offer price of the IPO). The warrants vest ratably over 
1 year.

The warrants can only be exercised when vested 
one year after the issue date (thus starting as from 12 
October 2008 until October 2012). In case of a normal 
termination of the Director’s mandate, all the vested 
warrants need to be exercised during the current or next 
exercise period. Vested warrants which have not been 
exercised in the foreseen period cannot be transferred to 
future exercise periods and become lapsed. All non-vested 
warrants become lapsed on the moment of termination of 
the agreement. The duration of the warrants is 5 years as 
of the issue date of the warrants. Any warrants that have 
not been exercised within 5 years of their creation become 
null and void.

Warrants issued in August 2008 for employees 
and members of the Executive Committee.

During the Board meeting of 22 August 2008, 
abovementioned warrant plan was approved. The Board of 
Directors was allowed to issue a total number of 378,333 
warrants to certain employees and members of the 
Executive Committee.

Each warrant gives the beneficiaries the right to 
subscribe to one share of the Company (equity-settled). 
The warrants are granted for free and have an exercise 
price equal to the average closing rate of the share over 
a period of 30 days before the date of the grant (€4.88 per 
warrant). The warrants vest ratably over 4 years: 25% of 
the warrants vest after one year; after that date 
the remaining 75% become vested on a monthly basis 
(2.083% per month).

The warrants can only be exercised when vested 
and as from the beginning of the fourth calendar year 
following the year in which the warrants have been 
granted (thus starting as from 1 January 2012 until 
December 2015). In case of a normal termination of 
the employee contract or the consulting agreement, all the 
vested warrants need to be exercised during the current or 
next exercise period. Vested warrants which have not 
been exercised in the foreseen period cannot be 
transferred to future exercise periods and become lapsed. 
All non-vested warrants become lapsed on the moment of 
termination of the agreement. The duration of 
the warrants is 7 years as of the issue date of 
the warrants. Any warrants that have not been exercised 
within 7 years of their creation become null and void.



50

04 |  financial review	 ablynx |  annual report 20 08

P 08 |  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

warrants 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2006 2007 2007 2008

Number of warrants granted 696,311 426,000 477,000 509,500 1,750,000 135,000 425,000 10,713 375,000

Number of warrants not vested 
 at 31/12/2008

- - - 34,875 659,063 58,500 240,156 - 375,000

Exercise price (in Euro) (1) 0.50 0.70 0.90 0.90 1.00 1.40 1.40 7.00 4.88

Expected dividend yield - - - - - - - - -

Expected stock price volatility 60% 60% 60% 60% 60% 60% 60% 60% 60%

Risk-free interest rate 4.95% 3.50% 3.33% 3.20% 3.95% 3.95% 4.63% 4.22% 4.42%

Expected duration 7.00 7.00 7.00 7.00 7.00 7.00 7.00 4.78 7.00

Fair value (in Euro) 0.32 0.44 0.56 0.56 0.63 0.88 0.90 3.78 3.11

warrants 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2006 2007 2007 2008 total number average exercise price

(in euro)

Outstanding  
at 31 December 2007

696,311 218,500 462,000 499,187 1,750,000 130,000 425,000 10,713 - 4,191,711 0.95

Granted - - - - - - - - 375,000 375,000 4.88

Forfeited - - - 126,147 44,063 7,584 20,053 - - 197,847 -

Exercised 219,000 177,500 168,186 - - - - - - 564,686 0.68

Expired - - - - - - - - - - 0.00

At 31 December 2008

Outstanding 477,311 41,000 293,814 373,040 1,705,937 122,416 404,947 10,713 375,000 3,804,178 1.37

Non-vested - - - 34,875 659,063 58,500 240,162 - 375,000 1,367,600 2.15

Exercisable 477,311 41,000 293,814 338,165 1,046,874 63,916 164,785 10,713 - 2,436,578 0.93

	 (1)	 Equals the fair market value of the underlying shares on the grant date.
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warrants 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2006 2007 2007 2008

Number of warrants granted 696,311 426,000 477,000 509,500 1,750,000 135,000 425,000 10,713 375,000

Number of warrants not vested 
 at 31/12/2008

- - - 34,875 659,063 58,500 240,156 - 375,000

Exercise price (in Euro) (1) 0.50 0.70 0.90 0.90 1.00 1.40 1.40 7.00 4.88

Expected dividend yield - - - - - - - - -

Expected stock price volatility 60% 60% 60% 60% 60% 60% 60% 60% 60%

Risk-free interest rate 4.95% 3.50% 3.33% 3.20% 3.95% 3.95% 4.63% 4.22% 4.42%

Expected duration 7.00 7.00 7.00 7.00 7.00 7.00 7.00 4.78 7.00

Fair value (in Euro) 0.32 0.44 0.56 0.56 0.63 0.88 0.90 3.78 3.11

warrants 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2006 2007 2007 2008 total number average exercise price

(in euro)

Outstanding  
at 31 December 2007

696,311 218,500 462,000 499,187 1,750,000 130,000 425,000 10,713 - 4,191,711 0.95

Granted - - - - - - - - 375,000 375,000 4.88

Forfeited - - - 126,147 44,063 7,584 20,053 - - 197,847 -

Exercised 219,000 177,500 168,186 - - - - - - 564,686 0.68

Expired - - - - - - - - - - 0.00

At 31 December 2008

Outstanding 477,311 41,000 293,814 373,040 1,705,937 122,416 404,947 10,713 375,000 3,804,178 1.37

Non-vested - - - 34,875 659,063 58,500 240,162 - 375,000 1,367,600 2.15

Exercisable 477,311 41,000 293,814 338,165 1,046,874 63,916 164,785 10,713 - 2,436,578 0.93
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	8.13 |	B orrowings

The leasing borrowing has been secured with the asset it provides financing for. The asset is a number of computers.

Maturity table

The maturity of non-current borrowings (including financial lease) is as follows:
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[ €‘000 ] As at 31 December 

2008 2007

Non-current

Secured 3 19

Non-secured - 42

Total 3 61

Current

Secured 15 68

Non-secured 42 44

Non-secured 57 112

[ €‘000 ] As at 31 December 

2008 2007

Borrowings 

Between 1 and 2 years 3 57

Between 2 and 5 years - 4

Over 5 years - -

Total 3 61

The details on the borrowings are summarized below (in €):

year nominal 

amount

currency Secured (s)

Non secured (ns)

Interest 

rate

First 

installments

Number of 

installments

Periodicity of 

installments

2006 130,000 € ns 4.77% 18/12/2006 36 Monthly

2007 22,189 € Financial lease(s) 4.70% 1/05/2007 12 Quarterly

2007 19,547 € Financial lease(s) 4.70 % 1/01/2007 12 Quarterly
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[ €‘000 ] As at 31 December 

2008 2007

Finance lease obligations

Future lease payments

Within one year 15 68

In the second to the fifth year 3 19

After five years - -

Total 18 87

Less future finance charges - 2

Present value of lease obligations 18 85

Trade payables As at 31 December 

[ €‘000 ] 2008 2007

Trade payables 4,906 3,064

Accruals for invoices to be received 1,719 2,159

Total 6,625 5,223

Trade payables As at 31 December 

[ €‘000 ]  2008 2007

Deferred income 23,899 19,076

Accrued expenses - -

Total 23,899 19,076

Other current liabilities As at 31 December 

[ €‘000 ]  2008 2007

Taxes other than income taxes payable - 5

Social security 531 381

Payroll accruals 1,503 1,262

Other liabilities 34 41

Total 2,068 1,689

The carrying amounts of borrowings approximate their fair value.

	8.14 |	T rade Payables and Other Current Liabilities

Deferred income mainly relates to cash received from research collaboration agreements prior to completion of the 
earnings process.
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	8.15 |	 Deferred Income Tax

The Company has unused tax losses carry forward. 
This results, combined with the other temporary 
differences, in a net deferred tax asset position.

Due to the uncertainty surrounding the Company’s 
ability to realize taxable profits in the near future 
the Company did not recognize any deferred tax assets.

	8.16 |	R etirement Benefit Obligations

The Company has set up a pension plan covering all 
staff (except for the members of the executive 
committee). The plan is a cafeteria plan in which the 
employees can opt to receive on top of their pension 
benefits an additional death and disability coverage 
(waiver of premium and disability annuity). The premiums 
needed to finance this additional coverage are at all times 
limited to the total premium budget (4% and 2% of the 
annual salary for the employer and employee 
contributions respectively). This plan is to be considered 
as a defined contribution plan. The Company has 
recognized an expense of respectively €395,184.23 and 
€286,591.58 in the years 2008 and 2007.
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[ €‘000 ] As at 31 December 

2008 2007

Tax loss carried forward (69,416) (51,001)

Other temporary differences - -

Amortization of intangible assets 600 719

Depreciation of tangible assets (348) -

Total temporary differences (69,164) (50,282)

Unrecognized deferred tax asset (33.99%) (23,509) (17,091)
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[ €‘000 ] As at 31 December 

2008 2007

Consumables 4,704 3,072

Outsourcing 9,589 5,034

Patent costs 1,228 1,641

Personnel costs 9,470 5,809

Share based payments 173 131

Other operating expenses 2,845 2,112

Subtotal 28,009 17,799

Depreciation and amortization 1,880 951

Total research and development expenses 29,889 18,750

[ €‘000 ] As at 31 December 

2008 2007

Personnel costs 1,902 1,556

Share-based payments 471 661

Executive Committee (1) compensation 1,643 1,537

Consultancy 1,931 650

Other operating expenses 1,343 1,003

Subtotal 7,290 5,407

Depreciation and amortization 157 75

Total general and administrative expenses 7,447 5,482

	8.17 |	R esearch and Development Expenses

	8.18 |	 General and Administrative Expenses

	8.19 |	O ther Income and Expenses

[ €‘000 ] As at 31 December 

2008 2007

Other operating income 6 5

Other operating expenses - -

Total 6 5

	 (1)	 The Executive Committee consists of key management members and the 
entities controlled by them
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	8.20 |	E mployee Benefit Expense

P 08 |  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

[ €‘000 ] As at 31 December 

2008 2007

Salaries, wages and bonuses 7,407 4,928

Social security 2,305 1,387

Group and hospitalization insurance cost 387 234

Share-based payments 644 793

Other employment costs 1,273 815

Executive Committee compensation 1,714 1,537

Total 13,730 9,694

Headcount 

Executive Committee (1) 4 5

R&D personnel  176 116

General and administrative staff 25 21

Average FTE 176.1 100.6

[ €‘000 ] As at 31 December 

2008 2007

Operating lease obligations

Current lease payments 408 290

Future lease payments 

Within 1 year 484 280

In the 2nd to the 5th year 871 463

After 5 years - -

	 8.21 	Operating Leases

The majority of the lease arrangements concerns the leasing of company cars.

	 (1)	 The Executive Committee consists of key management members and the 
entities controlled by them.
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	8.22 |	F inance Income and Expenses

	8.23 |	 Income Tax Expense

P 08 |  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

[ €‘000 ] As at 31 December 

2008 2007

Interest income on financial assets 5,509 1,816

Other finance income 260 8

Total 5,769 1,824

Finance expenses

Interest charges on financial liabilities 6 8

Other finance expenses 411 31

Total 417 39

[ €‘000 ] As at 31 December 

2008 2007

Current income taxes - -

Total - -

Loss of the year (15,223) (12,522)

Stock issuance costs - (5,463)

Share-based payments 644 793

Other permanent differences (4,301) (1,072)

Expected income tax credit (6,418) (6,208)

Impact unrecognized deferred tax asset 6,418 6,208

Effective income taxes - -

In 2008, the line ‘Other finance expenses’ includes foreign exchange losses of €387,460.

A reconciliation between the expected income tax and the effective income tax reads :
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	8.25 |	 Contingencies and arbitrations

5 February 2008 – Domantis Limited filed a request 
for Arbitration against Ablynx claiming a dispute exists in 
relation to the interpretation of certain provisions of 
a settlement agreement which Ablynx and Domantis 
entered into on 3 June 2005. Ablynx denies these claims in 
their entirety and will respond to the filing by seeking an 
affirmative declaration that Ablynx is fully entitled to 
pursue its current activities and that it has not defaulted 
on any material obligation under the settlement 
agreement. Ablynx will also assert various counterclaims 
against Domantis in connection with its conduct and will 
pursue all other remedies available to it under the law. 
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	8.24 |	E arnings per Share

[ €‘000 ] As at 31 December 

2008 2007

Loss of the year (15,223) (12,522)

Weighted average number of shares outstanding 36,432,187 25,682,222

Basic and diluted loss per share after reverse split (in €) (0.42) (0.49)

Earnings per share are calculated by dividing 
the net result attributable to Shareholders by the weighted 
average numbers of shares during the year. 
As the Company is suffering operating losses, warrants 
have an anti-dilutive effect. As such, there’s no difference 
between basic and diluted earnings per share.
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	8.26 |	 Commitments

	8.26.1 |	C ollaborative research agreements 
		  and clinical research agreements

	 |	 Boehringer Ingelheim - strategic alliance 

Boehringer Ingelheim and Ablynx announced 
a major global strategic alliance to discover, develop and 
commercialize up to 10 different Nanobody programmes. 
In return, Ablynx reveived an upfront payment and will 
receive research license payments, milestones and 
royalties. Additionally, BI subscribed to €15 million in equity 
at the IPO in November 2007.

	 |	 Boehringer Ingelheim agreement 
		  - Alzheimer disease 

BI and Ablynx agreed to collaborate to identify 
Nanobodies to a specific biological target believed to be 
relevant in Alzheimer’s disease and BI received an 
exclusive worldwide license to develop and commercialize 
such Nanobodies. In return, Ablynx received an upfront 
payment and will receive milestone payments, FTE 
payments and royalties as Nanobody drug candidates 
proceed through development and potentially reach the 
market. Ablynx will also participate in the relevant Steering 
Committees. 
On 21 August 2008, the research funding has been 
extended for another year.

	 |	W yeth Pharmaceuticals agreement

Wyeth received an exclusive worldwide license to 
develop and commercialize all Nanobodies to TNF-alpha 
for all indications. Wyeth is responsible for all costs 
associated with the development of these Nanobodies and 
Ablynx will participate in the relevant Steering Committees 
and has received FTE payments, upfront payments and 
milestones. On 20 December 2007, the research term of 
the collaboration has been extended for another year.

	 |	N ovartis agreement

The agreement with Novartis was signed in 
December 2005. Under this agreement, Ablynx will seek to 
discover Nanobodies against a number of targets 
nominated by Novartis in a collaborative research 
programme. The deal includes R&D payments, FTE 
payments, license fees, milestones and royalties. On 10 
December 2007, the alliance has been extended for 
another year.

	 |	P rocter & Gamble Pharmaceuticals 
			  agreements

Ablynx has signed two agreements with P&GP. 
In July 2004, the companies signed an agreement to 
discover and develop Nanobody drug candidates again 
targets specified by P&GP. Under the terms of 
the partnership, P&GP provides Ablynx with research 
and development funding, pre-determined milestones, 
and royalties upon commercialization.

A further agreement was signed in March 2006 to 
discover and develop Nanobody drug candidates against 
an undisclosed target for possible new treatments in 
musculoskeletal indications. Under the terms of this 
agreement, P&GP provides Ablynx with research 
and development, funding, pre-determined milestones, 
and royalties upon commercialization.

In December 2006 Ablynx announced that it had 
achieved a first milestone under the collaborations. 
The technical milestone consisted of the delivery of 
a highly diverse and potent panel of Nanobodies against a 
particular target, triggering a payment. The achievement of 
a similar milestone was announced in June 2007 against 
a second target.

On 20 January 2009, Ablynx announced that it 
expanded its musculoskeletal research portfolio by 
transferring in-house full ownership of a bone disorder 
R&D programme initiated under its collaboration with 
Procter & Gamble Pharmaceuticals, which has now 
formally ended.

	 |	 Merck Serono co-discover 
		  and co-develop agreement

Ablynx and Merck Serono will collaborate to 
research and develop Nanobody-based therapeutics 
against two disease targets exploiting some of the key 
benefits Nanobodies have over conventional antibodies 
and other fragments.  
Under the terms of the agreement, both companies will 
equally share all research and development costs. Should 
Ablynx contribute equally to each program, it will be 
eligible to receive fifty percent of the resulting profits. 
In addition, Ablynx will have an option to opt-out partly or 
fully during the research and development programs, 
in which case the Company would be eligible to receive 
either a reduced profit share, in the case of a partial 
opt-out, or milestones and royalties on potential sales, 
in the case of a full opt-out.  
The agreement includes an upfront cash payment to 
Ablynx of €10 million.
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	 |	O ther collaborative research agreements

The company has entered into numerous 
agreements with universities, medical centers and 
external researchers for research and development work 
and for the validation of the Company’s technology and 
products. These agreements typically have durations 
of one to three years. The Company must pay fixed and 
variable fees to the collaborators and in exchange receives 
access and rights to the results of the work.

	8.26.2 |	P rincipal government Grants

Ablynx was awarded two additional grants in 2008. 
The Company receives a fixed percentage of the expenses 
incurred in the following R&D projects.

1. Development of a new Nanobody discovery 
method based on selection of B lymphocytes from 
immunized llamas.

Grantor: IWT

Start date:	 1 September 2005	
End date:	 31 December 2007	
Amount approved:	 €1,175,367	
Amount recognized:	 €1,175,367	
Amount received:	 €1,154,130	

2. Exploring and expanding therapeutics uses and 
applicability of therapeutic heavy-chain derived single 
variable domains: the Nanobody novel uses programme.

Grantor: IWT

Start date:	 1 January 2007	
End date:	 31 December 2009	
Amount approved:	 €1,855,686	
Amount recognized:	 €1,411,329	
Amount received:	 €1,484,000	

3. Development of novel protein half-life extension 
technologies that result in long half-lives and favourable 
pharmacokinetic properties for small protein drugs

Grantor: IWT

Start date:	 1 September 2008	
End date:	 31 August 2011	
Amount approved:	 €1,808,138	
Amount recognized:	 €134,136	
Amount received:	 €241,000	

4. Improving Nanobody drugability
Grantor: IWT

Start date:	 1 July 2008	
End date:	 30 June 2010	
Amount approved:	 €454,114	
Amount recognized:	 €84,232	
Amount received:	 -	

	8.26.3 |	P rincipal lease and borrowings contracts

In 2008, Ablynx has no supplementary lease 
contracts.

P 08 |  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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	8.27 |	R elated Party Transactions

	8.27.1 |	R emuneration key management

Key management consists of the members of the Executive Committee and the entities controlled by any of them.

P 08 |  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As at 31 December 

2008 2007

Number of management members 4 5

[ €‘000 ]

Short term employee benefits 
(salaries, social security, bonuses, lunch vouchers) 

998 775

Post employee benefits (group insurance) 59 79

Share-based compensation 411 595

Other employee costs 122 232

Management fees 464 589

Total 2,054 2,270

Number of warrants granted (in units) 187,500 300,000

Cumulative outstanding warrants (in units) 2,488,540 2,425,000

Exercised warrants (in units) - -

Outstanding payables - 47

Shares owned (in units) 2,605 -

	8.27.2 |	T ransactions with non-Executive Directors

[ €‘000 ] As at 31 December 

2008 2007

Share-based compensation 32 14

Management fees 71 10

Total benefits 103 24

Number of warrants offered (in units) - 10,713

Cumulative outstanding warrants (in units) 10,713 70,713

Non-vested warrants - 10,713

Outstanding payables - 8
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	8.28 |	E vents after 
		  the Balance Sheet date

8 January 2009: Ablynx strengthens management 
team with the appointment of Dr Debbie Law as Chief 
Scientific Officer. 

20 January 2009: Ablynx announced that it has 
expanded its musculoskeletal research portfolio by 
transferring in-house full ownership of a bone disorder 
R&D programme initiated under its collaboration with 
Procter & Gamble Pharmaceuticals.

23 January 2009: The Extraordinary General 
Shareholders meeting of Ablynx approved the issue of a 
new warrant plan for members of the Executive 
Committee and consultants. Under the new warrant plan, 
a total of 135,000 warrants can be issued at an exercise 
price of €4.52 per warrant.

3 February 2009: Ablynx announced that it will 
receive milestone payments totalling €3 million from 
Boehringer Ingelheim triggered as part of its strategic 
alliance for the development and commercialization of 
Nanobodies.

5 February 2009: Ablynx announced that its drug 
discovery and development alliance with Novartis has 
been extended for another year.

24 February 2009: Ablynx announced that the 
research collaboration, which forms part of the Company’s 
TNF-alpha license agreement with Wyeth Pharmaceuticals, 
has been extended for another year. 

P 08 |  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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In accordance with Article 105 of the Belgian 
Companies’ Code, the condensed statutory financial 
statements of Ablynx NV are presented. These condensed 
statements have been drawn up using the same 
accounting principles for preparing the complete set of 
statutory financial statements of Ablynx NV at and for 
the year ending 31 December 2008.  
 
 
 
 
 

The management report, the statutory financial 
statements of Ablynx NV and the report of the statutory 
auditor will be filed with the appropriate authorities and 
are available at the Company’s registered office.  
The statutory auditor has issued an unqualified report on 
the statutory financial statements of Ablynx NV. The 
complete set of the statutory financial statements of 
Ablynx NV is also available on the Company’s website 
www.ablynx.com.

	09 |	Condensed Statutory Financial Statements of Ablynx NV  
		  as of and for the year ended 31 December 2008

SUMMARY BALANCE SHEET OF ABLYNX N.V.  

ASSETS AS AT 	 [ €‘000 ] 2008 2007

Fixed assets 3,886 2,786

Intangible fixed assets 199 32

Tangible fixed assets 3,137 2,754

Financial fixed assets 550 - 

Current assets 122,101 130,831

Amounts receivable within one year 6,696 3,119

Current investments 110,500 121,500

Cash at bank and in hand 2,990 4,989

Deferred charges and accrued income 1,915 1,223

TOTAL ASSETS 125,987 133,617

liabilitieS AT AS	 [ €‘000 ] 2008 2007

Equity 93,804 107,458

Capital 68,415 68,031

Share premium account 88,850 88,851

Accumulated profits (losses) (63,461) (49,424)

Amounts payable after more than one year 3 61

Current liabilities 32,180 26,098

Amounts payable within one year 8,281 7,024

Deferred charges and accrued income 23,899 19,074

TOTAL LIABILITIES 125,987 133,617
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P 09 |  CONDENSED STATUTORY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF ABLYNX NV AS OF AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008

SUMMARY INCOME STATEMENT OF ABLYNX N.V.  

[ €‘000 ] 2008 2007

Operating Income 18,012 10,303

Turnover 15,562 8,786

Other operating income 2,450 1,517

Operating charges 37,454 23,694

Services and other goods 24,194 14,759

Remuneration, social security costs and pensions 11,867 8,037

Depreciation of and amounts written off formation expenses,  
intangible and tangible fixed assets

1,392 898

Other operating charges 1 -

Operating Profit (19,442) (13,391)

Financial result 5,399 (3,678)

Financial income 5,826 1,823

Financial charges (427) (5,501)

Gain (loss) on ordinary activities before taxes (14,043) (17,069)

Extraordinary result 6 5

Extraordinary income 6 5

Profit for the year before taxes (14,037) (17,064)

Taxes - -

Profit (loss) for the year (14,037) (17,064)

APPROPRIATION ACCOUNT  

[ €‘000 ] 2008 2007

Profit (loss) to be appropriated (63,461) (49,424)

Profit (loss) to be appropriated (14,037) (17,064)

Profit (loss) to be carried forward (49,424) (32,360)

Profit (loss) to be carried forward (63,461) (49,424)
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P 09 |  CONDENSED STATUTORY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF ABLYNX NV AS OF AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008

CAPITAL STATEMENT (position as at 31 December 2008) 

[ €‘000 ] Amounts Number of shares

A. Capital   

1. Issued capital

	 At the end of the previous year 68,031

	 Changes during the year 385

	 At the end of this year 68,416

2. Capital representation 36,490,521

2.1. Shares without par value

	 Bearer and dematerialized 36,490,521

 

D. Autorized capital not issued 63,448
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	10.1 |	 Summary of valuation rules

	10.1.1 |	P rinciples

The valuation rules have been prepared in 
agreement with the requirements of the Royal Decree 
of 30 January 2001 on the enforcement of the Commercial 
Code.

	10.1.2 |	S pecific rules

	 |	C ompany foundation costs

Foundation costs are taken directly into the results.

	 |	I ntangible fixed assets

Concessions, patents, licenses, know-how, 
trademarks.  
Software licenses are capitalized at their acquisition price, 
and depreciated linearly at a ratio of 33.33% per year. 
Other licenses are valued at their acquisition price and 
depreciated linearly over the probable economic life of the 
patent to which they refer. The maximum depreciation 
period for other licenses is 5 years. 
Other intangible fixed assets are valued at their cost price 
and depreciated linearly at a percentage that corresponds 
to their probable useful life for the Company. 
These other intangible fixed assets include contributed 
technology. The contribution value of this technology is 
depreciated linearly over 5 years.

	 |	T angible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets are valued at their acquisition 
price, including all subsequent direct costs required to 
make such assets operational. 
The following depreciation percentages are used:

	10 |	 Summary of Valuation Rules and additional information

ASSET Method

L

D

O

Basis

NR

R

Depreciation Percentages

Principle Costs

Min - Max

Subsequent Costs

Min – Max

1. Foundation Costs

2. Intangible fixed assets L NR 20 – 33.3%

3. Buildings

4. Installations, machinery & equipment L NR 33.3%

5. Movable fixed assets

6. Office equipment & furniture L NR 20%

7. Other tangible fixed assets L NR 33.3%

8. Leasehold improvements : the shorter of the useful life or the minimum rent term.

L: linear / D: degressive  / O: other  / NR: not revalued R: revalued
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	 |	F inancial fixed assets

Guarantees are capitalized at their acquisition price.

	 |	A mounts receivable within one year

The receivables are capitalized at their nominal 
value. Each receivable is individually valued.  Devaluation 
of receivables is recorded if the actual value is lower that 
their nominal value.

	 |	C ash

Cash is capitalized at its nominal value.

	 |	 Grants

Grants are recognized in the balance sheet when all 
the conditions of the grant are fulfilled. Grants are 
recognized in the results on a pro rata basis in the same 
period as the actual costs related to the grant are incurred.

	 |	A mounts payable within one year

Amounts payable are capitalized at their nominal 
value.

	 |	F oreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies during the year 
are booked at the current exchange rate. All outstanding 
payables and receivables at year-end are recorded at 
the exchange rate on the balance sheet date. Exchange 
rate gains and losses are recognized in the results under 
the heading Other Financial Charges and Income.

	 |	T urnover

Turnover from research contracts is recognized 
over the duration of the contract for which work is 
delivered.  

P 10 |  SUMMARYOF VALUATION RULES AND ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
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P 10 |  SUMMARYOF VALUATION RULES AND ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Warrant plans

warrants 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2006 2007 2007 2008 total number average exercise price

(in euro)

Outstanding  
at 31 December 2007

696,311 218,500 462,000 499,187 1,750,000 130,000 425,000 10,713 - 4,191,711 0.95

Granted - - - - - - - - 375,000 375,000 4.88

Forfeited - - - 126,147 44,063 7,584 20,053 - - 197,847 -

Exercised 219,000 177,500 168,186 - - - - - - 564,686 0.68

Expired - - - - - - - - - - 0.00

At 31 December 2008

Outstanding 477,311 41,000 293,814 373,040 1,705,937 122,416 404,947 10,713 375,000 3,804,178 1.37

Non-vested - - - 34,875 659,063 58,500 240,162 - 375,000 1,367,600 2.15

Exercisable 477,311 41,000 293,814 338,165 1,046,874 63,916 164,785 10,713 - 2,436,578 0.93

Grants

Grant Assigned Received at 

31/12/2008

Recognized as 

income of 

previous years

Recognized 

as income 

2008

Still to 

receive

Accrued 

income

IWT 5 1,175,367 1,154,367 1,154,130 1,175,367 (21,236) - -

IWT 6 1,855,686 1,855,686 1,484,000 410,185 1,001,143 371,686 -

IWT 7 1,808,138 1,808,138 241,000 - 134,163 1,567,138 -

IWT 8 454,114 454,114 - - 84,232 454,114 84,232

	10.2 |	A dditional Information
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Warrant plans

warrants 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2006 2007 2007 2008 total number average exercise price

(in euro)

Outstanding  
at 31 December 2007

696,311 218,500 462,000 499,187 1,750,000 130,000 425,000 10,713 - 4,191,711 0.95

Granted - - - - - - - - 375,000 375,000 4.88

Forfeited - - - 126,147 44,063 7,584 20,053 - - 197,847 -

Exercised 219,000 177,500 168,186 - - - - - - 564,686 0.68

Expired - - - - - - - - - - 0.00

At 31 December 2008

Outstanding 477,311 41,000 293,814 373,040 1,705,937 122,416 404,947 10,713 375,000 3,804,178 1.37

Non-vested - - - 34,875 659,063 58,500 240,162 - 375,000 1,367,600 2.15

Exercisable 477,311 41,000 293,814 338,165 1,046,874 63,916 164,785 10,713 - 2,436,578 0.93
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	11 |	 Disclosure Audit Fees

€

Auditor’s fees 37,500

Fees for exceptional services or special missions executed in the Company 
by the auditor

Other attestation missions 6,200

Tax consultancy -

Other missions external to the audit -

Fees for exceptional services or special missions executed in the Company 
by people they are linked to

Other attestation missions -

Tax consultancy 60,100

Other missions external to the audit -

Mention related to Article 133 Paragraph 6 from the Companies Code

The Audit Committee has approved in the Audit Committee meeting of 21 February 2008 
the exemption on the 1:1 rule as the tax consultancy services do not impair the inde-
pendence of the statutory auditor.  
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Addresses

Affinity Measure of the binding strength between an antibody and its antigen.

Antibody Y shaped protein that is produced as the result of the introduction of an 
antigen into the body and that has the ability to specifically bind said 
antigen, triggering an immune response.

Anti-platelet agent Substance that prevents the adhesion and aggregation of blood platelets, 
thereby preventing the formation of blood clots.

Camelidaes Belonging to the class of mammals, this family comprises camels, llamas, 
alpacas, vicunas and guanacos.

Epitope Site on an antigen recognized by an antibody.

GPCRs G-Protein Coupled Receptors. Cell membrane proteins of high medical and 
pharmacological importance.

Half-life time The length of time it takes for half of the drug molecules to get cleared from 
systemic circulation.

Heavy chain antibody Antibody which consists of two heavy chains only.

IBD Inflammatory bowel disease. Group of chronic intestinal diseases characteri-
zed by inflammation of the bowel. The most common types of inflammatory 
bowel disease (IBD) are ulcerative colitis and Crohn’s disease.

IND Investigational New Drug Application. An application that a drug sponsor 
must submit to FDA before beginning tests of a new drug on humans. The 
IND contains the plan for the study and is supposed to give a complete 
picture of the drug, including its structural formula, animal test results, and 
manufacturing information. The equivalent in Europe is called Request for 
Authorization (RfA).

Multi-valency Having more than one binding site.

Nanobody A protein that is composed of one or more binding domains with 
the structural and functional characteristics of naturally occurring
heavy chain variable domains (VHH’s) from Camelidae.

Phase I clinical trial Clinical trial to test a new biomedical intervention in a small group of people 
for the first time to evaluate safety (e.g. to determine a safe dosage range 
and to identify side effects).

Phase II clinical trial Clinical trial to study a new biomedical intervention in a larger group of 
people to determine efficacy and to further evaluate its safety.

Small molecule Non-protein molecule drug.

TNF-alpha Protein named Tumor Necrosis Factor-alpha produced by several of the 
body’s cell types, involved amongst others in systemic inflammation.

VHH Variable or binding domain of a naturally occurring heavy chain antibody.

VUB Free University of Brussels (‘Vrije Universiteit Brussel’).

VH VHH

VHHVL

CL

CH1

CH2 CH2

CH3 CH3

Ablynx’s nanobody®
The smallest functional  
fragment of a naturally occuring 
single-chain antibody.

heavy-chain antibody
Only heavy chains. 
Full antigen binding capacity 
and highly stable.

conventional antibody
Heavy and light chains. 
Both chains required for antigen 
binding and stability.

Glossary Quick guide to Nanobodies®

What are Nanobodies?

Nanobodies, a new class of novel therapeutic 
proteins that are derived from naturally occurring 
single-chain antibodies. The basis for Nanobody 
technology was originally discovered in 1992 at the 
VUB. The invention was based on the observation that 
Camelidae (the family which includes camels and 
llamas) are the only mammals which, in addition to 
conventional antibodies, also possess antibodies that 
lack light chains but still have the full antigen-binding 
capacity of conventional antibodies. In these heavy-
chain only antibodies, antigen binding occurs through 
a single variable domain (VHH) (from which Nanobodies 
are derived) which is the smallest functional antibody 
fragment of a naturally occurring heavy-chain antibody.

How are Nanobodies different?

Nanobodies have a number of important competitive 
advantages which differentiate them from conventional 
monoclonal antibodies and small molecule drugs. 
They combine some of the best features of conventional 
monoclonal antibodies with those of small molecule drugs. 

These advantageous characteristics include :

P	high affinity
	 •	 binds specifically to one disease target

P	small size
	 •	 12-14 kD, 1/10 of the size of  

	 a conventional antibody

P	high stability
	 •	 stable to enzymes, various pH’s 

	 and high and low temperatures 

P	ease of manufacture
	 •	 cost of goods advantage  

	 with microbial manufacturing

P	formatting
	 •	 tailoring of the duration of pharmacological 

	 activity for both acute and chronic indications
	 •	 multi-valency and bi-specificity allowing 

	 more than one disease target or epitope 
	 to be blocked with one therapeutic entity

P	broad applicability
	 •	 applications in a broad range of 

	 therapeutic disease areas

Ablynx’s registered office and headquarters
Ablynx NV
Technologiepark 4
9052 Zwijnaarde
Belgium
T. 	+32 (0)9 262 00 00
F. 	+32 (0)9 262 00 01

info@ablynx.com
investors@ablynx.com
dealing_code@ablynx.com

www.ablynx.com 

Independent registered public accounting firm
PricewaterhouseCoopers
Reviseurs d’Entreprises | Bedrijfsrevisoren
Woluwe Garden
Woluwedal 18
1932 Sint-Stevens-Woluwe
Belgium
T. 	+32 (0)2 710 4211
F. 	+32 (0)2 710 4299

www.pwc.com

Investor relations
College Hill
The Registry
Royal Mint Court
London EC3N 4QN
United Kingdom
T. +44 (0)20 7457 2020
F. +44 (0)20 7866 7900

www.collegehill.com
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(*) including subscribed capital €20M called up in 2007
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Nanobodies®
delivering therapeutics beyond antibodiesdelivering therapeutics beyond antibodies




